IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA,)
Plaintiff–Appellee,))
v.) S. CT. NO. 19–0892
DERRICK EARL JOHNSON,	
Defendant–Appellant.)

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR BLACK HAWK COUNTY THE HONORABLE JOEL A. DALRYMPLE, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

MARTHA J. LUCEY State Appellate Defender

MARY K. CONROY Assistant Appellate Defender mconroy@spd.state.ia.us appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER Fourth Floor Lucas Building Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-8841 / (515) 281-7281 FAX

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. DID THE DISTRICT COURT ERR IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S REQUEST THAT IT INSTRUCT THE JURY ON THE LESSER-INCLUDED OFFENSE OF HOMICIDE BY VEHILCE BY RECKLESS DRIVING?

Authorities

State v. Jeffries, 430 N.W.2d 728, 737 (Iowa 1988)

State v. Plain, 898 N.W.2d 801, 811 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Massick, 511 N.W.2d 384, 387 (Iowa 1994)

State v. Ware, No. 13–1072, 2014 WL 3931451, at *4 (Iowa Ct. App. Aug. 13, 2014) (unpublished table decision)

State v. Coffin, 504 N.W.2d 893, 896 (Iowa 1993)

State v. Miller, 841 N.W.2d 583, 588 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Royer, 436 N.W.2d 637 (Iowa 1989)

State v. Turecek, 456 N.W.2d 219, 223 (Iowa 1990)

Iowa Code § 707.6A(1) (2017)

Iowa State Bar Ass'n, Iowa Criminal Jury Instruction No. 710.1 (2018)

Iowa State Bar Ass'n, Iowa Criminal Jury Instruction No. 710.2 (2018)

Iowa Code § 707.6A(2)(a) (2017)

State v. Adams, 810 N.W.2d 365, 371 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Wullner, 401 N.W.2d 214 (Iowa Ct. App. 1986)

State v. McQuillen, 420 N.W.2d 488, 489 (Iowa Ct. App. 1988)

State v. Rohm, 609 N.W.2d 504, 513 (Iowa 2000)

State v. Mikesell, 479 N.W.2d 591, 592 (Iowa 1991) (per curiam)

II. DID THE DISTRICT COURT ERR IN GRANTING THE STATE'S MOTION IN LIMINE AND PROHIBITING THE DEFENDANT FROM PRESENTING EVIDENCE THAT L.M. WAS NOT IN A CAR SEAT AT THE TIME OF THE CRASH AND WOULD HAVE SURVIVED THE CRASH IF PROPERLY RESTRAINED?

Authorities

State v. Garrett, 183 N.W.2d 652, 653 (Iowa 1971)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.103(a)(2) (2017)

State v. Hubka, 480 N.W.2d 867, 869 (Iowa 1992)

State v. Tobin, 333 N.W.2d 842, 844 (Iowa 1983)

Iowa Code § 814.7 (2019)

Iowa Code § 814.7 (2017)

State v. Macke, 933 N.W.2d 226 (Iowa 2019)

State v. Ondayog, 722 N.W.2d 778, 784 (Iowa 2006)

Mohammed v. Otoadese, 738 N.W.2d 628, 631 (Iowa 2007)

State v. Cashen, 789 N.W.2d 400, 405 (Iowa 2010)

U.S. Const. amend. VI

U.S. Const. amend. XIV

Iowa Const. art. I, § 10

State v. Clark, 814 N.W.2d 551, 560 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Simpson, 587 N.W.2d 770, 771 (Iowa 1998)

State v. Thompson, 836 N.W.2d 470, 480 (Iowa 2013)

Washington v. Texas, 388 U.S. 14, 19 (1967)

State v. Adams, 810 N.W.2d 365, 371 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Hubka, 480 N.W.2d 867 (Iowa 1992)

People v. Moore, 631 N.W.2d 779, 781–84 (Mich. Ct. App. 2001)

State v. Farner, 66 S.W.3d 188, 201 (Tenn. 2001)

State v. Dock, 167 So.3d 1097, 1100 (La. Ct. App. 2015)

Bowman v. State, 618 So.2d 763, 764 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1993)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.402 (2017)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.403 (2017)

State v. Rodriguez, 636 N.W.2d 234, 239 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Begey, 672 N.W.2d 747, 751–53 (Iowa 2003)

State v. Frazier, 559 N.W.2d 34, 38-39 (Iowa Ct. App. 1996)

Lamasters v. State, 821 N.W.2d 856, 864 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Paredes, 775 N.W.2d 554, 561 (Iowa 2009)

State v. Williams, 695 N.W.2d 23, 27-28 (Iowa 2005)

State v. Ambrose, 861 N.W.2d 550, 556 (Iowa 2015)

U.S. Const. amend. VI

U.S. Const. amend. XIV

Iowa Const. art. I, § 10

State v. Brothern, 832 N.W.2d 187, 192 (Iowa 2013)

State v. Clay, 824 N.W.2d 488, 496 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Greene, 592 N.W.2d 24, 29 (Iowa 1999)

State v. Leckington, 713 N.W.2d 208, 218 (Iowa 2006)

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 694 (1984)

III. DID THE DISTRICT COURT IMPOSE AN ILLEGAL SENTENCE WHEN IT ORDERED THE DEFENDANT TO PAY THE DRUG ABUSE RESISTANCE EDUCATION SURCHARGE?

Authorities

State v. Dann, 591 N.W.2d 635, 637 (Iowa 1999)

State v. Sisk, 577 N.W.2d 414, 416 (Iowa 1998)

American Asbestos v. Eastern Iowa Comm. College, 463 N.W.2d 56, 58 (Iowa 1990)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(5)(a) (2017)

Tindell v. State, 629 N.W.2d 357, 359 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Ohnmacht, 342 N.W.2d 838, 842 (Iowa 1983)

Iowa Code § 911.2 (2017)

Iowa Code § 911.2(1) (2017)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court because it involves a substantial issue of first impression in Iowa. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(d) and 6.1101(2)(c). Specifically, in Division I, Johnson asks this Court to find that homicide by vehicle by reckless driving is a lesser-included offense of homicide by vehicle by operating while intoxicated. In unpublished opinions, the Court of Appeals has found that it is not. See, e.g., State v. Halterman, No. 12-1072, 2013 WL 1457148 (Iowa Ct. App. 2013) (unpublished table decision); State v. Ware, No. 13-1072, 2014 WL 3931451, at *4 (Iowa Ct. App. Aug. 13, 2014) (unpublished table decision). However, Judge Tabor dissented in State v. Ware, noting the majority's misplaced reliance on State v. Massick, 511 N.W.2d 384, 387 (Iowa 1994), which held that reckless driving is not a lesserincluded offense of operating while intoxicated. In this case, the trial judge agreed Judge Tabor's opinion was persuasive, but stated "it is the dissent of an unpublished opinion, so

there's . . . not a lot of weight the court can give that." (Trial Tr. vol.3 p.147 L.10–13). Johnson asks this Court rule <u>State v. Massik</u> is not controlling and find the reckless alternative is a lesser-included offense of the operating-while-intoxicated alternative of homicide by vehicle.

In addition, retention is appropriate because Johnson asks this Court reverse State v. Hubka, 480 N.W.2d 867 (Iowa 1992) in Division II. State v. Hubka found that evidence that the victims were not wearing seatbelts and would have survived if they had been restrained was not relevant in a vehicular homicide case. Johnson requests this Court adopt Michigan's approach, which allows the jury to consider this type of evidence in determining whether the defendant caused the victim's death. See People v. Moore, 631 N.W.2d 779, 781–84 (Mich. Ct. App. 2001).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case: Defendant-Appellant Derrick Earl Johnson appeals his conviction, sentence, and judgment following a jury trial and verdict finding him guilty of homicide by vehicle while operating under the influence, in Black Hawk County District Court Case No. FECR221581.

Course of Proceedings: On September 28, 2017, the State charged Johnson with interference with homicide by vehicle by operating under the influence, a class "B" felony, in violation of Iowa Code section 707.6A(1) (2017). (Trial Information) (App. pp. 5–6). On October 9, 2017, Johnson filed a written arraignment and plea of not guilty. (Written Arraignment) (App. pp. 7–8). He also waived his right to trial within ninety days at the same time. (Written Arraignment) (App. p. 8). Johnson subsequently waived his right to be tried within one year. (Waiver) (App. p. 10).

On March 29, 2018, the State filed a motion in limine asking the district court to prevent the defense from entering

evidence that L.M. was not in a child restraint system at the time of the car crash and that there were more occupants in the vehicle than seatbelts. (Mot. Limine) (App. p. 9). In its motion, the State also noted the defense intended to present expert testimony that L.M. would have survived or had a higher chance of surviving if restrained in a car seat and asked the court to prevent the admission of such evidence. (Mot. Limine) (App. p. 9). The defense resisted the motion. (Resistance) (App. pp. 11–12). After hearing on the motion, the district court granted the State's motion. (Mot. Limine Tr. p.2 L.10–p.18 L.7) (Ruling) (App. pp. 13–16).

The State moved to amend the trial information on March 13, 2019. (Mot. Amend.; Amend. Trial Information) (App. pp. 17–19). The amendment added an alternative theory by which the State sought to prove operating while intoxicated. (Amend. Trial Information) (App. p. 18). The district court granted the amendment. (Order Amend.) (App. pp. 20–21).

On April 2, 2019, the jury returned a verdict finding Johnson guilty of homicide by vehicle by operating while under the influence. (Trial Tr. vol.3 p.246 L.15-p.247 L.19) (Verdict) (App. p. 25). By way of a special interrogatory, the jury unanimously found that Johnson was under both the influence of alcohol and a drug individually, as well as under a combination of both alcohol and a drug, beyond a reasonable doubt. (Trial Tr. p.246 L.15-p.247 L.19) (Interrogatory) (App. p. 26). It also unanimously found Johnson had an alcohol concentration of 0.08 or more and that he had any amount of controlled substance present, as measured by his blood, beyond a reasonable doubt. (Trial Tr. p.246 L.15-p.247 L.19) (Interrogatory) (App. p. 26).

Following the jury's return of the guilty verdict, Johnson filed a motion for new trial and motion in arrest of judgment on several grounds, including that there was insufficient evidence supporting a finding that the accident was caused by Johnson's intoxication, that the statute was not applicable to

Johnson's case considering the entire record, and that the court erroneously granted the State's motion in limine.

(Sentencing Tr. p.2 L.21–p.4 L.13) (Mot. New Trial & Mot. Arrest of J.) (App. pp. 27–29). The court denied the motions. (Sentencing Tr. p.5 L.11–p.8 L.12).

The matter came before the district court for sentencing on May 13, 2019. (Sentencing Order) (App. p. 30). The district court sentenced Johnson to an indeterminate sentence not to exceed twenty-five years in prison. (Sentencing Tr. p.20 L.6–8) (Sentencing Order $\P\P$ 2, 3) (App. p. 30). The court imposed a \$10 drug abuse resistance education surcharge. (Sentencing Tr. p.20 L.9) (Sentencing Order ¶ 8) (App. p. 31). The court ordered Johnson to pay \$150,000 in restitution to the victim's heirs at law, pursuant to Iowa Code section 910.3B, as well as any other victim restitution. (Sentencing Tr. p.20 L.14–16) (Sentencing Order ¶¶ 9, 10) (App. p. 31). The court found Johnson could not reasonably repay the costs of his court-appointed attorney and entered a temporary

restitution order regarding the remaining restitution.

(Sentencing Tr. p.21 L.2–p.24 L.17) (Sentencing Order) (App. p. 31). The court revoked Johnson's driver's license for six years, ordered him to obtain a substance abuse evaluation and comply with the recommended treatment, and ordered him to complete a drinking and driving course. (Sentencing Tr. p.20 L.10–15) (Sentencing Order ¶ 15) (App. p. 32). Lastly, the court ordered Johnson to submit a DNA sample. (Sentencing Tr. p.24 L.20–22) (Sentencing Order ¶ 14) (App. p. 32).

Johnson timely filed a notice of appeal on May 27, 2019. (Notice) (App. pp. 35–36).

Facts: At approximately 6:30 p.m., on August 2nd, 2017, there was a car crash at the intersection of First Street and Sycamore Street in Waterloo. (Trial Tr. vol.1 p.194 L.15–22; vol.2 p.31 L.13–18). First Street was usually a one-way street headed north; however, it was a two-lane street with a middle turning lane at the time of the accident because it was being used as a detour while a nearby street was under

construction. (Trial Tr. vol.1 p.202 L.6–19). At the intersection, there were temporary stop signs with two orange flags attached to poles displayed on the side of road on Sycamore Street only; vehicles traveling on First Street did not have to yield. (Trial Tr. vol.1 p.203 L.1–18, p.224 L.3–21, p.247 L.13–20). Witnesses testified the view of the intersection was blind; it was blocked extensively by surrounding buildings and hard to see the oncoming traffic until very close to the intersection. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.9 L.1–20, p.13 L.10–15; vol.3 p.94 L.17–p.95 L.15, p.105 L.32–p.106 L.15).

The evidence showed Johnson, who was headed west in a pickup truck, ran the stop sign on Sycamore Street. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.33 L.2–25, p.175 L.10–18; vol.3 p.72 L.1–23). His vehicle t-boned a minivan, being driven by Danny Lewis, Jr., that was headed northbound on First Street. (Trial Tr. vol.1 p.198 L.16–p.199 L.25) (Ex. O3) (Ex. App. p. 20). L.M., an almost seven-month-old infant and passenger of Lewis's van, died from blunt force injuries to his head consistent with a car

crash. (Trial Tr. vol.1 p.61 L.12–20, p.62 L.5; vol.2 p.152 L.19–24). The jury did not hear evidence of it, but L.M. was not restrained in a child car seat at the time of the crash; an eight-year-old passenger was holding him on her lap. (Mot. Limine Tr. p.3 L.3–15) (Mins. Test. p. 13) (Confidential App. p. 4).

Lewis testified that he was driving his family and L.M., for whom his wife provided childcare, home from his son's soccer practice. (Trial Tr. vol.1 p.61 L.1–6, p.62 L.24–p.63 L.14, p.67 L.4–11; vol.2 p.7 L.18–23). Lewis's van was headed north on First Street, going approximately thirty to thirty-five miles per hour; L.M. was in the middle of the van. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.8 L.6–15, p.22 L.15–16). Lewis testified as he entered the intersection he saw a pickup truck quickly approaching. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.9 L.1–20, p.13 L.10–15). He attempted to swerve to try to avoid the truck but was unsuccessful; the truck collided with the van, causing the van to roll over before

¹ The speed limit on First Street was thirty-five miles per hour. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.179 L.11–13).

landing right side up. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.9 L.21–10 L.5, p.33 L.2–25). Lewis immediately exited the vehicle and started helping the other occupants, including L.M., out of the van. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.10 L.6–14).

L.M. was not moving or breathing when he was removed from the van. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.10 L.15-p.11 L.45, p.36 L.6-15). A nurse that witnessed the crash stopped her car and began to triage the van's occupants. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.33 L.20-22, p.35 L.11-p.36 L.5). She testified L.M. did not have a pulse; she and another bystander performed CPR on L.M. until the paramedics arrived minutes later. (Trial Tr. vol.1 p.196 L.11-21; vol.2 p.10 L.15-p.11 L.45, p.36 L.6-p.37 L.7). The paramedics then transported the infant to Allen Hospital. (Trial Tr. vol.1 p.196 L.11–23, p.161 L.7–21). After doctors identified that L.M. had a brain injury, they had a helicopter life-flight L.M. to the University of Iowa hospital where he died shortly after arriving. (Trial Tr. vol.1 p.65 L.22-p.66 L.7).

Waterloo Police Officer Enes Mrzljak responded to the scene shortly after the crash. (Trial Tr. vol.1 p.209 L.8-10, p.210 L.8-19). Almost immediately after arriving, he was flagged down by a woman, later identified as Mekaila Shane and Johnson's significant other; she was standing with Johnson. (Trial Tr. vol.1 p.213 L.9-15, p.220 L.3-4, p.222 L.3-9, p.226 L.10-13) (Ex. E 0:00-0:37). Mrzljak spoke with Johnson, who identified himself as the driver of the truck; Mrzljak observed Johnson had a small gash on his forehead that was bleeding. (Trial Tr. vol.1 p.216 L.1-p.217 L.1, p.222 L.15-p.223 L.7) (Ex. E 0:00-0:37). Mrzljak initially did not smell anything when speaking to Johnson, but later smelled alcohol coming from Johnson once he started interacting with Waterloo Police Officer Jessica Brownell. (Trial Tr. vol.1 p.217 L.2-p.218 L.14).

Brownell also responded to the scene; shortly after she arrived, she approached Johnson, who was still speaking with Mrzljak. (Trial Tr. vol.3 p.25 L.3–6) (Ex. F. 0:00–0:13).

Brownell asked Johnson how the accident happened, and Johnson told her that he was not paying attention; however, Johnson denied being on his phone. (Trial Tr. vol.3 p.25 L.7-18) (Ex. F. 0:39-1:15, 1:59-2:15). Law enforcement later examined Johnson's phone and were unable to determine if he was on the phone at the time of the crash. (Trial Tr. vol.2) p.169 L.6-p.170 L.4). However, separate information from Facebook indicated that around the time of the crash Johnson was getting a series of calls through Facebook's Messenger app. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.170 L.8-p.171 L.17, p.190 L.2-9). Shane called him several times in a very short period of time using the app, but it did not appear that Johnson had answered any of her calls. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.171 L.8-172 L.12)

Brownell testified that when she was talking with Johnson she smelled an odor consistent with alcohol coming from him. (Trial Tr. vol.3 p.25 L.19–p.26 L.4). Accordingly, Brownell questioned Johnson on whether he had been drinking, which he denied. (Trial Tr. vol.3 p.25 L.19–p.26 L.4)

(Ex. F. 2:05–2:25). Brownell requested Johnson consent to field sobriety testing, and he did. (Trial Tr. vol.1 p.218 L.12–14; vol.3 p.7–8) (Ex. F. 2:30–2:35).

Brownell testified Johnson failed the horizontal-gazenystagmus test, one-leg-stand test, and the walk-and-turn test; she believed he was under the influence because of the results of the testing, the odor of alcohol, and he had bloodshot and watery eyes; however, Brownell admitted she had not properly instructed Johnson on one of the tests, he properly followed some of the instructions that others do not, and she did not observe him swaying or having trouble with his balance. (Trial Tr. vol.3 p.26 L.10-p.31 L.11, p.38 L.10p.48 L.15) (Ex. F. 3:00-7:15). Brownell also testified that while Johnson seemed nervous, he was not fidgety, aggressive, agitated, or paranoid; nor was his speech abnormal. (Trial Tr. vol.3 p.47 L.5-24). Mrzljak described Johnson as calm. (Trial Tr. vol.1 p.223 L.8-10).

After the field sobriety testing, Johnson admitted to Brownell that he had drank alcohol earlier in the day. (Trial Tr. vol.3 p.32 L.22–25) (Ex. F. 7:15–7:30). Brownell then detained Johnson and transported him to the police station for further testing. (Trial Tr. vol.3 p.33 L.2–5). While at the police station, Johnson requested medical attention. (Trial Tr. vol.3 p.33 L.15–17). Paramedics came and took Johnson to Covenant Hospital for treatment. (Trial Tr. vol.3 p.33 L.18–p.34 L.7).

Johnson was getting medical treatment in the emergency room, lying on a hospital bed with a neck brace, when Waterloo Police Officer Michael Rasmussen went to interview him. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.63 L.11–p.65 L.1, p.72 L.11–12) (Ex. I 0:00–0:10). Rasmussen Mirandized Johnson, and Johnson agreed to an interview. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.65 L.1–15) (Ex. I 0:35–1:00). Johnson told Rasmussen he had two twelve ounce Bud Light cans at his home earlier between 1:00 and 2:00 p.m. but stated he was not sure on the exact timeframe;

he denied being under the influence of drugs. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.69 L.3–21) (Ex. I 5:35–6:30, 13:15–15:50). Johnson denied being on his phone at the time of the crash and told the officer he was unsure but thought he had been driving about forty miles per hour; he also told the officer he had not seen a traffic control device. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.68 L.19–p.70 L.20) (Ex. I 6:30–8:00). Rasmussen did not observe any signs that Johnson was intoxicated. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.70 L.21–24).

While Johnson was at the hospital, law enforcement obtained a search warrant for a sample of his blood. (Trial Tr. vol.1 p.84 L.6–9; vol.2 p.49 L.2–20, p.62 L.13–19). A lab technician drew Johnson's blood at 8:44 p.m. pursuant to the search warrant. (Trial Tr. vol.1 p.69 L.10–11, p.75 L.9–18). The nurse sealed the box the blood sample went in before Brownell was able to put the paperwork in it. (Trial Tr. vol.1 p.88 L.1–12). Brownell testified because of this she got a new blood kit once she took the sample to the police station, threw away that kit's contents, and put Johnson's sample in the new

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