IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA Supreme Court No. 19–0892

STATE OF IOWA, Plaintiff-Appellee,

VS.

DERRICK EARL JOHNSON, Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR BLACK HAWK COUNTY THE HONORABLE JOEL A. DALRYMPLE, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER Attorney General of Iowa

LOUIS S. SLOVEN

Assistant Attorney General Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-5976 Louie.Sloven@ag.iowa.gov

LINDA FANGMAN Black Hawk County Attorney

JEREMY WESTENDORF & MOLLY EDWARDS Assistant Black Hawk County Attorneys

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

The crux of Leonard's appeal is whether a defendant charged with both vehicular homicide under 707.6A(1) and vehicular homicide under 707.6A(2)(a) can be found guilty under 707.6A(1) when he is acquitted of reckless driving under 707.6A(2)(a). We hold a defendant may be convicted under 707.6A(1) even if he is acquitted under 707.6A(2)(a).

Section 707.6A(1) . . . allows recklessness to be established by operation of law rather than by requiring direct proof of recklessness as a matter of fact. Once intoxication is demonstrated as defined in section 321J.2, defendant will be determined as a matter of law to have been operating in a reckless manner. This cannot be defeated by further argument, even if true, that as a matter of fact defendant was not driving recklessly It does not matter whether such an argument is made as a direct defense to a charge of vehicular homicide under section 707.6A(1) or is offered as an indirect defense via an acquittal of charges brought under 707.6A(2)(a). Clearly, the purpose of the statute would be vitiated if such a defense was allowed. Additionally, to allow such a defense would in reality require the State-in order to obtain a conviction under 707.6A(1)—to prove the factual elements of recklessness in addition to proving the defendant was driving while intoxicated. This was not the intent of the legislature in adopting the vehicular homicide statute

See id. at *2. This is the right analysis, because "implied recklessness" merely alleviates leftover concerns from common-law, and is not an actual element. Inserting a new fact-dependent recklessness element into homicide-by-OWI would also raise Sixth Amendment concerns about any homicide-by-OWI conviction that was obtained without requiring the jury to find reckless driving, beyond a reasonable doubt. See, e.g., Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 490 (2000).

Finally, Johnson's claim fails because *Massick* is wholly correct. Even after Adams, it is possible to commit a homicide by operating while intoxicated, without *driving* at all. Consider a factual scenario where an intoxicated person places a child in a car in their garage, starts the car without opening the garage door, and passes out. If the child dies, the person violated section 707.6A(1) by causing the death of that child by operating the vehicle while intoxicated—even though the vehicle never moved. See Iowa Code § 707.6A(1); accord Field v. Southern Sur. Co. of New York, 235 N.W. 571, 575—76 (Iowa 1931) (noting that decedent was not "driving" car that was idling in garage, distinguishing that from question of whether he was "operating" it); In re Rugh's Estate, 234 N.W. 278 (Iowa 1931) (describing a similar factual scenario involving death of children). If the person would not have passed out but for intoxication, that satisfies Adams by linking the OWI act to the child's death. See Adams, 810 N.W.2d at 371. And, like all OWI, this was an inherently reckless act—but it would not be an act of reckless *driving*. Proving that violation of section 707.6A(1) will not involve or require any proof of reckless driving, which means that Johnson's claim fails the "impossibility test" for included offenses. See Massick, 511 N.W.2d at 387 (citing Jeffries, 430 N.W.2d at 740).

Leonard, the twist on Sutton, and this hypothetical establish that this is not a situation where "the greater offense cannot be committed without also committing all elements of the lesser offense." See Coffin, 504 N.W.2d at 894. The legal construct of categorical recklessness that is inherent in committing OWI is distinct from the fact-dependent reckless-manner-of-driving element set out in section 707.6A(2)(a). Adams requires some proof of manner of driving to show causation for homicide by OWI, but it need not be a reckless manner of driving—unlike homicide by reckless driving, which unambiguously requires it. That additional element means it cannot be a lesser-included offense. In that regard, nothing has changed since Massick was decided:

[R]eckless driving requires proof of willful or wanton disregard for the safety of others or property. This is the recklessness element. Although driving under the influence is certainly reckless behavior, proof of recklessness is not an essential element of operating while intoxicated.

*Massick, 511 N.W.2d at 387; accord Halterman, 2013 WL 1457148, at *1–2 (noting "[w]e need not decide whether or not the Adams holding obviates the distinction made by the Massick court" that differentiates between operating and driving because "there still remains another Massick distinction" that was unaffected by Adams). Therefore, even within the framework set out by Adams, Johnson's challenge must fail.

B. If these offenses did overlap, they would be alternative offenses. Requiring submission of instructions adding the "lesser" charge would subvert legislative intent.

The district court articulated a different reason for rejecting Johnson's requested instruction: "[T]he legislature's intent was to delineate operating while intoxicated from other types of reckless acts, and it was their intent to substantially punish that more so than just simply driving in a reckless manner." *See* TrialTr.V3 148:11–149:10. The district court was correct. Even if there *were* a complete overlap between all elements of homicide-by-OWI and homicide-by-reckless-driving offenses, it was right not to submit this instruction.

If Johnson is correct about the elements of these offenses, then the State effectively submitted a recklessness element by asking the jury to find that he was intoxicated. While there was evidence that his manner of driving was reckless in many other ways, the State did not submit any other "specifications of recklessness." So, if recklessness was automatically included in proof of elements that were charged, the lesser offense would be limited to homicide-by-reckless-driving-by-OWI; recklessness would be established by proof of intoxication. There is no other recklessness theory that is necessarily included in proof of all elements required to sustain a homicide-by-OWI charge.

In that scenario, these would not be included offenses—they would be alternative offenses. See, e.g., Coffin, 504 N.W.2d at 896 ("[T]he greater offense *must* have an element not found in the lesser offense. Without such a dissimilar element, it is not proper to submit a lesser included offense."). "The legislature has chosen to make an unintentional death while committing the public offense of OWI a more egregious offense than an unintentional death while committing the public offense of reckless driving." See State v. Dailey, No. 08– 0909, 2009 WL 1492698, at *2 n.1 (Iowa Ct. App. May 29, 2009). Submitting both offenses and allowing the jury to treat OWI as just another alternative route to proving recklessness would subvert the clear legislative intent: to set vehicular-homicide-by-OWI charges apart as unintentional killings of a different caliber. See Rivera v. State, No. 16–1253, 2017 WL 2461563, at *5 (Iowa Ct. App. June 7, 2017) ("Driving while intoxicated is inherently dangerous, and our legislature has determined one who chooses to drive while intoxicated and then takes the life of another has significant legal culpability.").

The State is not arguing that the legislature intended to permit convictions on both offenses for a single homicide—that would require language that abrogates the judicially created "one-homicide rule." See State v. Wissing, 528 N.W.2d 561, 567 (Iowa 1995). Rather, if Johnson is right about the elements, then the legislature has enacted two different versions of homicide-by-reckless-driving, and mandated severe punishment for one version that specified a particular means of committing the crime it described. It would subvert that intent to allow Johnson to invite the jury to reduce his punishment on proof of identical facts that would establish the more severe crime. See Coffin, 504 N.W.2d at 896–97 ("All of the elements of robbery as submitted coincide with all of the elements of extortion. So the district court correctly refused to submit extortion as a lesser included offense.").

Johnson may argue that the legislature's intent is fulfilled when the jury returns a verdict on the level of the offense that corresponds to its findings of fact about the defendant's criminal acts. This would be true in situations involving classic examples of included offenses—like if a jury determines that the State's evidence in a murder trial established an intentional killing but did not establish premeditation, or if it concludes that the State has proved a domestic abuse assault but failed to prove that it was committed by strangulation. *See, e.g.*, *State v. Reese*, 259 N.W.2d 771, 778 (Iowa 1977); *State v. Joiner*, No. 15–1600, 2017 WL 1400804, at *1 (Iowa Ct. App. Apr. 19, 2017). But

the problem is that Johnson insists that OWI is inherently reckless, and there are no other allegations of recklessness in this indictment. Under Johnson's approach to the legal elements, he either committed both offenses (by causing L.H.'s death as a result of driving that was reckless because of his intoxication) or committed neither offense (because failure of proof on intoxication would extinguish the State's only charge of recklessness). This is fatal to Johnson's claim of error. "When absolute identity exists between the elements of two offenses, one offense may not be submitted as the lesser included equivalent of the other, irrespective of the level of punishment each offense carries." Miller, 851 N.W.2d at 589; see also State v. Wilson, 523 N.W.2d 440, 440-41 (Iowa 1994) ("Because commission of the included offense of assault while participating in a felony would in the present prosecution have required the State to establish all of the elements of the offense charged, i.e., robbery in the second degree, the court was not required to submit the lesser offense."). If Johnson is correct that the elements of these offenses inherently overlap, then Iowa courts would infer that the legislature intended to vest prosecutors with discretion to choose which charge to file—and their decisions must not be second-guessed by submitting alternative charges. See Coffin, 504 N.W.2d at 896–97.

In Dailey, the Iowa Court of Appeals rejected a challenge that demanded an instruction on involuntary manslaughter under section 707.5(1), as a lesser included offense of homicide by OWI. See Dailey, 2009 WL 1492698, at *4-5. Involuntary manslaughter requires proof of death resulting from commission of a public offense—but the only "public offense" that the State had charged was OWI, as part of its homicide-by-OWI charge. See id. Because all required elements were "common to the two offenses" as charged, Dailey held that "under the present circumstances, felony involuntary manslaughter is not a lesser-included offense of homicide by vehicle." See id. Instead, they were alternative offenses, which means "the decision of which violation to charge rests in the hands of the prosecutor." See id. The same logic would apply here: if Johnson is right that homicide-by-OWI belongs in the same conceptual category as homicide-by-reckless-driving, the legislature's decision to set it apart would enable the State to select homicide-by-OWI and to exclude homicide-by-reckless-driving by declining to include any other theory of recklessness in its charges. And just like in *Dailey*, Johnson's request for a jury instruction on homicide-by-reckless-driving-by-OWI would still be invalid because of a total overlap on all required elements, as charged.

If Johnson is correct that reckless driving is an implied element of homicide by OWI, then the legislature has enacted two provisions that prohibit the same homicide offense, prescribing punishments of widely disparate severity. In this situation, the "greater" charge of homicide by OWI would be proven *if and only if* the State established its only allegation that Johnson claims is proof of recklessness: OWI. There is no conceivable situation where the State would succeed in proving homicide-by-reckless-driving-by-OWI while failing to prove homicide-by-OWI. Johnson's claim that OWI is recklessness, if true, only proves that these are alternative offenses, not included offenses. *See Coffin*, 504 N.W.2d at 896; *Dailey*, 2009 WL 1492698, at *4–5; TrialTr.V3 148:11–149:10. Therefore, Johnson's challenge must fail.

C. If it was error to refuse to submit this instruction, any such error would be harmless. The jury was unanimous on Johnson's intoxication, on five separate theories—all independently sufficient.

When a trial court improperly refuses to submit an instruction on a lesser included offense, the mere fact of conviction is usually not enough to establish harmless error. *See State v. Turecek*, 456 N.W.2d 219, 222 (Iowa 1990). But that depends on the notion that "if the jury had been given an alternative it might have reached a different result." *See id.* That is simply not the case here, as this interrogatory shows:

Answer the following only if you find the defendant guilty indicating which theory or theories the members of the jury relied upon in reaching their verdict. (You may select more than one alternative if true.)

 $\sqrt{}$ All members of the jury found the defendant was under the influence of alcohol beyond a reasonable doubt.

 $\sqrt{}$ All members of the jury found the defendant was under the influence of a drug beyond a reasonable doubt.

 $\sqrt{}$ All members of the jury found the defendant was under the influence of a combination of alcohol and a drug beyond a reasonable doubt.

√ All members of the jury found the defendant had an alcohol concentration of .08 or more beyond a reasonable doubt.

 $\sqrt{}$ All members of the jury found the defendant had any amount of a controlled substance present, as measured in his blood, beyond a reasonable doubt.

___ The members of the jury did not unanimously agree on any theory.

Interrogatory (4/4/19); App. 26. The jury was overwhelmingly sure of Johnson's intoxication, despite his best efforts to sow seeds of doubt on all five theories throughout the trial. *See* TrialTr.V3 211:17–220:9.

Johnson may respond by arguing that the jury could have found he was intoxicated, but still could have found that it was not his level of intoxication that caused the crash. *See* TrialTr.V3 220:10–223:5. But the jury rejected this too, by rejecting the lesser included offense of OWI. *See* Jury Instr. 18; App. 23. The jury was firmly convinced.

There is no real possibility that the jury would unanimously find that Johnson was intoxicated on all five of those alternative theories *and* find that his intoxication caused the fatal crash, but choose to return a verdict that rejected *all five* of those alternative intoxication theories if only the court had given an instruction on a lesser included offense that did not include intoxication. *See State v. Carberry*, 501 N.W.2d 473, 476 (Iowa 1993) (noting that the strength of evidence "continues to play an essential role in a harmless-error analysis" for challenges arguing improper failure to submit lesser included offenses). And the State did not minimize its burden on causation—far from it:

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